may have been the first building in England to
show the influence of Wren and it appears to be
the earliest entirely new college building exe-
cuted in a classical style there.*

Morden College, also in Kent, dates to 1694
and has stronger links with Wren because he
served on the Greenwich Committee. Morden
College was actually an almshouse that may have
been modeled on Bromley College. Again, two
end pavilions of two bays each enframe a main
range, thirteen bays in length. The latter is
relieved, though awkwardly, by a five-bay pedi-
mented pavilion, the center axis of whichis
embellished by a lantern tower and by a semi-
circular pedimented aedicule at the entrance.*®

A final school design, known to have involved
Wren, was that prepared by Nicholas Hawks-
moor for Sir John Moore’s Writing School,
Christ’s Hospital, London, a design receipt of
which was acknowledged on March 2, 1692
(figure 83).47 Although the building needed to
fit into an existing urban complex, Wren and
Hawksmoor nonetheless managed to achieve
basic 1:2 proportional relationships. The width
and height of the building (as shown in the
drawing) are basically equal to half its length.
This is also the proportion of the Hall and
Chapel at the College in Williamsburg; the five-
bay facade of the Writing School also approxi-
mates that of the west fagade of the main range
at the College.*®

It should be apparent from the college build-
ings designed by or assigned to Wren that none,
either of itself or in combination with others,
provides sufficient stylistic connection to what is
known about the design of the first College
building to enable an attribution to Wren on that
basis alone. However, taken collectively, each of
the college buildings thus far considered a work
of Wren or revealing of his influence has certain
features that appear in the College design—a
thirteen-bay length, high hipped roof, a unified
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center axis, a dimension of 46 by 138 feet, a five-
bay arcaded fagade, an enlarged center dormer
with sidelights, 1:2 and 1:3 proportions, and a
quadrangular plan featuring hall and chapel in
separate wings. Still, it is necessary to consider
further Wren designs that have stylistic affinities
to the College and Williamsburg’s public
buildings.

All Souls, Oxford retains drawings, ascribed
to Wren, for houses otherwise unidentified. An
elevation of a house, which Kerry Downes con-
sidered might have been a preliminary study for
Easton Neston, ascribed to Hawksmoor, has
some similarities to a rougher sketch, already
presented and now assigned to'Talman (figures
84a and 37). Both are nine-bay compositions with
elements (the source for which is Palladio) link-
ing the houses to flanking symmetrical depend-
encies covered by mansard roofs. The house
shown in figure 84a is composed of five bays that
are enframed by one-story, two-bay wings. The
two-story pile is covered by a low hipped roof
crowned by a balustrade and cupola. The center
bay is enframed by a somewhat diminutive te-
trastyle two-story pedimented frontispiece.

A series of four elevation studies, thought
not to be in Wren’s hand, shows the designer
experimenting in a typically late Baroque way
with the many possible combination of elements
that can compose a facade, whether archuated

Fig. 83. Christopher Wren
and Nicholas Hawksmoor,
Elevation, Sir John Moore’s
Writing School, Christ’s Hospi-
tal, London, 1692, drawing,
1692, The Warden and
Fellows of All Souls College,
Oxford.
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Fig 84a. Christopher Wren
(attribution), Elevation and
Section, Design for a Large
House, drawings, The War-
den and Fellows of All Souls
College, Oxford.

Figs. 84b—c. Artist unknown
(once ascribed to Christo-
pher Wren), Tiwo Elevation
Studies, Design for a House,
drawings, The Warden and
Fellows of All Souls College,
Oxford.

102

or trabeated (figures 84b—c). One drawing shows
the design stripped of the orders altogether. All
four studies, however, depict a facade of thirteen
bays, about 164 feet in length.*® A further de-
sign, for Edward Alston, mentioned in connec-
tion with the first College building, has a center
pavilion with balconies and enlarged dormers,
similar to what might have been built at the
College (higure 25).

Wren’s 1685—1686 designs for the Privy
Gallery and Council Chamber have already been
mentioned. Apart from the c.1695 bird’s-eye
view of Whitehall by Knyff (figure 10), only one
other view of these buildings appears to sur-
vive—a Wren drawing showing a section of the
Privy Gallery and an elevation of the adjoining
Council Chamber to the right (figure 85). The
Council Chamber, in turn, adjoined Jones’s
Banqueting House. Two coupled pilasters on the
first floor of the Banqueting House are also
shown in the elevation. Wren’s admiration for

Jones, and for the Banqueting House in particu-
lar, explains why he retained its proportions and
some of its details in the elevations of the adjoin-
ing Council Chamber. He aligned the ground as
well as first floors of both the Council Chamber
and Privy Gallery with those of the Banqueting
House. The Council Chamber facade was com-
posed of five bays, like that of Sir John Moore’s
Writing School and the west fagade of the Col-
lege range, and it had an ashlar loggia of five
bays on the ground floor, not replicated in the
Privy Gallery. The quoining shown at the corner
of the Council Chamber suggests it was a brick
building like the adjoining Privy Chamber. The
width of the Council Chamber was about forty-
six feet, a measurement also fitting exactly the
width of the Privy Gallery. Forty-six feet was also
the dimension from the ground floor to the

attic ceiling in the latter building, just as it was
the width and height of the first College build-
ing. It has been noted that the facade of the
Privy Gallery facing the Privy Garden appears to
have been very similar to that of the College. It




was unmistakably a quite vernacular facade
running as much as 200 feet with possibly as
many as twenty bays, a length determined not by
ideal proportions but by the need to connect

the Council Chamber and adjacent structures
with the Vane Room.% Clearly, this building, in
style, proportion, and dimension, and with its
sash windows, may have been a starting point for
the design of the College.

Wren’s statement against a quadrangulax
plan for Trinity College, Oxford did not hold
when he came to design other buildings. Even
when he had an opportunity to develop a plan
without the encumbrances of existing buildings,
as was the case for the design he made about
1668 for a palace on the Duke of Norfolk’s
London estate, he reverted to a quadrangle
(figure 86). The design for both house and
garden occupies a site some 600 by 630 feet. The
main pile, a quadrangle about 170 feet square

with a ninety foot square courtyard, had three of

its four ranges composed of elements similar to
those of Morden College and the elevation stud-
ies for an unidentified house (figure 84a). Three
of the four ranges of the central core had thir-
teen bays, the center three of which formed
pavilions, and the ends of which were enframed
by two-bay projecting or recessed pavilions.

The plan is also of interest because it is the
earliest to show Wren as a designer of gardens.
The sixteen parterres against the Thames were a
basic quadrupling of those four parterres that
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Fig. 86. Christopher Wren,
Plan for a House and Garden
on the Duke of Norfolk’s Estate,
London, ¢.1668, drawing,
The Warden and Fellows of
All Souls College, Oxford.

would be constructed for Mary at Whitehall

in 1692—1693, using rubble from the 1691 fire.
Both provide clues for what James Road brought
from Hampton Court to Williamsburg in 1694.
The range facing the Thames appears about 150
feet long as do the side ranges that also appear
to have the 1:3 proportions of the College build-
ing. There was a loggia or gallery fronting the
courtyard against a single-pile range of five
apartments that faced the river. The range also
measured about forty-six feet in width, like those
of the first College design.?!

Charles II’s wish to rival Louis XIV at Ver-
sailles says much about the scheme Wren devel-
oped in 1683 for a new and grand palace at
Winchester (figure 87). It was the closest the
English ever came to rivaling Versailles in both
style and scale. However, in 1689 William and
Mary abandoned it, and it became a quarry for
materials. The most complete view surviving of
the palace appears in Thomas Milner’s History of
Winchester, which shows two flanking ranges of
forecourt buildings probably almost identical in
scale and style to the Privy Gallery at Whitehall
and also very similar to the first College design.

Fig. 85. Christopher Wren,
Elevation of Council Chamber
and Section of the Privy Gal-
lery, Whitehall Palace, Lon-
don, 1685—1686, drawing,
1685—1686, The Warden
and Fellows of All Souls
College, Oxford.
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Fig. 87. Palace for Charles 11,
Winchester, Christopher Wren,
architect, 1682—-1685, en-
graving, The British Archi-
tectural Library, RIBA,
London.

i

Fig 88. Christopher Wren,
Preliminary Plan, Hampton
Court Palace, begun 1689,
drawing, ¢.1689, The War-
den and Fellows of All Souls
College, Oxford.
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It was noted in the discussion of the first College
building that a design for stables, probably for
Winchester Palace, had hipped dormers with
finials, possibly like those Michel showed at the
College.5?

In the interest of economy it was determined
that the massive group of buildings constituting
Hampton Court would be allowed to stand unre-
modeled and that William and Mary’s residence
there would be a quadrangular addition to the
east, or rear, of this late Tudor pile (figure 88).
The preliminary plan for this quadrangle shows
a rectangular block 260 by 326 feet, a propor-
tion also adhered to in the courtyard. The palace
is almost exactly double in size that of the first
College building and is proportioned in a very
similar way. If the College plan, 138 by 164 feet,
were doubled, its measurements would be 256 by
328 feet. An additional similarity between the
two designs is the single ranges of rooms, four or

five to a side, which are fronted by loggias in the
courtyards.5?

Kensington Palace is an even greater hodge-
podge of units built-somewhat piecemeal in
different periods. William and Mary acquired a
modest house on the site, still comprising its
core, from William’s secretary, the earl of Not-
tingham, in 1689 (figure 5). The view depicted
in the painting shows its south facade dominated
by the King’s Gallery, an addition of eleven bays,
built in 1695 shortly after Mary’s death. The
lower two-story ranges to its left, over which
appears the cupola above the entrance to the
Clock Court, were in place when Blair was in
London in 1691-1693. The effect of the earlier
ranges, added by Wren for William and Mary, is
similar to the Privy Gallery at Whitehall and to
the soon-to-be designed College.5*

None of Wren’s designs is more analogous to
the first (or second) College building than is the
Royal Hospital at Chelsea (1682—1691).55 It was
this design that Hugh Jones singled out in 1723~
1724 as the one most closely approximating the
College design (figures 89a—c). When Jones
stated rhetorically that the College was “not
altogether unlike” the Hospital, he obviously
meant the two had many features in common.
As London’s newest and most grandiose secular
building, the Hospital was without rival. It con-
sisted of a main range with two symmetrically
flanking ranges—Wren’s “three-legged table”—
set at right angles to it. These two ranges, pro-




Jjecting toward the river, were also given addi-
tional ranges projecting outward from them,
which tripled the length of the road facade,
especially as this appears in the plan. In eleva-
tion, however, these large four wings clearly read
as dependencies connected to the main pile by
hyphens. The pivotal point of the entire scheme
of buildings and gardens is the octagonal vesti-
bule in the main range, a porte cochére really,
which was enframed on both the road and river
facades by pedimented, Doric tetrastyle frontis-
pieces on which was centered a cupola. The
vestibule leads immediately to the courtyard and
to the chapel and hall on either side. The vista
shown in the engraving leading from the vesti-
bule toward the river was grand indeed. A series
of parterres led beyond the courtyard to a wide
and long five-part allée terminating at the river
similar to that shown of the College’s gardens in
the Bodleian Plate (figure 21).

The Hospital, perhaps more than all Wren’s
designs for colleges, provides every essential

element used in the first College design, many of

which are evident in the Bodleian Plate. The
elements that Wren.used in the Hospital design
are also to be found on the facade of Stalpaert’s
Ancillary Building for the Admiralty in Amster-
dam (figures 64a~b). Both brick buildings are
similar in scale and style, are three stories high,
have hipped roofs broken by dormers, and have
their three-story ranges separated by single-story
ranges of equal height. The ranges in both are

articulated by large arched recesses or windows,
and the compositions of the main facades of
both also culminate in tetrastyle Doric frontis-
pieces crowned by similar cupolas. The Hospital
and the present College both have four five-bay
“pavilions,” two on each fagade, enframing Hall
and Chapel; those of the Hospital face road and
river, those in Williamsburg face north and
south.

The first design for the College, while not
imitating any one fagade of Chelsea Hospital,

shifted its elements. For example, if the vestibule

between the hall and chapel in the Hospital is
removed entirely, if the chapel is then moved to

a position parallel to the hall but against the end

pavilion nearest the river, and is then connected
to it by a range matching that already joining
hall and chapel, the resulting quadrangular
composition closely approximates that of the

Fig. 89a. Johannes Kip,
Bird’s-eye View of Royal Hospi-
tal, Chelsea, London, Christo-
pher Wren, architect, 1682—
1691, engraving, 1691—
1692, Master and Fellows,
Magdalene College,
Cambridge.
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Fig. 89b. Artist unknown,
Bird’s-eye View of Royal Hospr-
tal, Chelsea, London, Christo-
pher Wren, architect, 1682—
1691, engraving, Joseph
and Margaret Muscarelle
Museum of Art, College of
William and Mary

Fig. 89¢c. Robert English,
General Plan, Royal Hospital,
Chelsea, London, Christopher
Wren, architect, 1682—1691,
engraving, 1691, Gough
Collection, Bodleian Li-
brary, Oxford University
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College. This rejuggling of elements may seem
contrived, but this is exactly what Christian Lilly
did with the design of Codrington (figures 90a—
b), as did Wren and other Baroque architects.
Whether Wren knew or even drew on Stalpaert’s
Ancillary Building (figures 64a~b) in designing
the Hospital is secondary to the fact that he used
similar elements in a similar composition.* As
Hugh Jones suggested, the College does not
imitate the Hospital, and because it does not, the
case is strengthened for it coming from the
Office of Works more than if it were as imitative
as the Codrington design. Like William and
Mary’s quadrangle at Hampton Court, the Hos-
pital was much larger than the College, but once
again proportional arrangements and details are
quite similar. Wren’s predilection for buildings
comprising thirteen bays is footnoted four times
by the one-story dependencies (with center
pavilions of three bays and two stories) placed to
either side of the side ranges at all four corners.
An undated memorandum thought to have
been drafted by Wren at the outset of work on

Chelsea Hospital in 1682 is useful to compare to
what was first designed and built for the College.
The Royall Hospital at Chelsea . . . consists of a

Large Courte built on three sides, the 4th side next
to the Thames lying open to the Gardens and
Meadows. . . . The two sides of [the] Court are
double building [wings] in three stovies and gar-
rets, both containing 16 galleries.
The College also consisted “of a large Courte” to
be built on four sides, but because of a lack of
funds and possible stylistic considerations was
left to stand with only three sides with the court
also “lying open to Gardens and Meadows”
designed by the Office of Works.?” The College,
too, had “three stories and garrets,” and the east
range also appears to have had “16 galleries” or
four rooms on each of the four floors, not in-
cluding the basement,
The upper end or front hath an octagonal Vestibule
in the middle, covered with a Cupolo or Lanthorne
130 fot high.
The wing comprising the Hospital’s chapel, hall,
and vestibule was about 260 feet long, twice the




measurement of the height of the cupola. The
center section of the College’s east range also
had a “Vestibule” embellished with balconies and
was “covered with a Cupolo or Lanthorne.” It
originally rose at least ninety-two feet above
ground to a height double the range’s width, a
1:2 proportion like the Hospital.

Wren continued:

On each side of the Vestibule are assents to the Hall

on the one hand and Chappell on the other, each of

which is 115 fot long, 38 fot broad, and the Hall

1s 37 fot high, the Chappell 42 foote high.
Here one sees Wren’s readiness (for aesthetic
and functional reasons) to depart from rigid
adherence to proportional systems, yet both his
hall and chapel basically conform to a 1:3 pro-
portional relationship. The College, too, had
a “Hall on the one hand and Chappell on the
other,” though in different positions. Each
probably was originally intended to measure
thirty-two by seventy-two feet, a roughly 1:2
proportion. Its main range is, however, an exact
play of 1:3 proportions. Both College and Hospi-
tal have these similarities of proportion.

On the corners of the Building are 4 Pavillions 54

foote square.
The College also had “4 Pavillions,” forty-six
rather than fifty-four feet in length. The pavil-
ions of the Hospital are also three stories high
and five bays wide, as noted, and are thus ar-
ranged like the north and south facades of the
east and west ranges of the College’s first design.
Wren's pavilions had stone quoins on the cor-
ners. Given the rustication, possibly executed in
stucco at basement level in the first College
building, as shown by Michel, it may be won-
dered whether stucco quoins were not also ap-
plied at the corners there. Given his drawing this
cannot be detected.

The whole building is 382 fot long from Novth to

South and 348 from East to West.
The College, 138 feet from north to south and

164 feet from east to west, was much smaller Dutch and English Precedents

than the Hospital. But, again, as at Hampton
Court, the proportions are alike: both buildings
have a rough 7:8 overall proportion, unlike the
square plan of Christian Lilly’s Codrington
College (figure 90b), which was also modeled on
the Hospital.

The Galleries are 12 foote high in the cleere.

Each of the College’s original three “Galleries”
or stories was probably also an average of twelve
feet “in the cleere,” that is, three floors, twelve
feet in height = 36 feet, separated by 16"-thick
floors and joists = 4 feet, for a subtotal of 40
feet. A six-foot exposed basement story then
brings the pile to its suspected forty-six foot
height, a height equaling the width.

Adjoining are enclosures of brickwalls for Walks,

Gardens, Kitchin Garden, Back Courts, and

Buriall places®
The College was also provided with “Walks,
Gardens, Kitchin Garden, Back Courts, and
Buriall place” and with a garden design pre-
pared by George London whose role in land-
scape design was equivalent to Wren’s role as
architect in the Office of Works. If what is shown
in the Bodleian Plate half a century later reflects
the initial garden design, it was approached
much as the Hospital was from the Thames,
albeit on a smaller colonial scale. There can be
little doubt, given Hugh Jones’s statements about
the College’s “good Courts and Gardens” and
its “large Pasture enclosed like a Park with about
150 acres,” that the Hampton Court design for
the College’s gardens was more extensive than
what the plate shows.

It has been suggested that the College of
William and Mary was the first manifestation of
the effort to strengthen the Anglican church “in
foreign parts.” This effort led to the formation
of the Society for the Promotion of Christian
Knowledge and the Society for the Propagation
of the Gospel to Foreign Parts.*® The founding
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Figs. 90a-b. Elevations and
Plan, Codrington College,
Barbados, Christian Lilly,
architect, ¢.1711-1714,
engravings, The Warden
and Fellows of All Souls
College, Oxford.
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of Codrington College in Barbados (figures 90a—
b) in 1711-1714 by the S.P. G.EP. was made
possible by a gift of £30,000 from the Codring-
tons, a wealthy sugar-planting family. In 1714,
the Society reported:

There is a Model of the said College now preparing

by the kind Assistance and Direction of that worthy
Gentleman, Colonel Christian Lilly, one of Her
Majesty’s Engineers, who formerly made a Present
to the Society of a large Plan of their Estates in
Barbados, which Model, when perfected, will be
sent over to Barbados.®
Lilly thus appears to have made his design a
charitable gift much as Wren’s Office might have
been expected to do for the College. Lilly’s
design emulated Chelsea Hospital even more
closely than appears to have been done with the
first College design. The hall and chapel of
Codrington College are arranged exactly like
those at Chelsea Hospital. Like the first College

design, Codrington was a bilaterally symmetrical
quadrangular plan, wherein Lilly simply inserted
a range between the pavilions Wren placed clos-
est to the Thames. The range opposite this in
the Lilly design contained the hall and chapel.
Separated by an octagonal vestibule and fronted
on both sides by a Doric tetrastyle frontispiece, it
is a virtual imitation of Wren’s scheme. If Hugh
Jones had discussed Lilly’s design, he surely
would have written that it was based almost
entirely on Chelsea Hospital. The three-story
elevation of Codrington had quoining at its base
as did the College; the Hospital did not. The
Codrington design was, therefore, achieved by
combining features of the Hospital in Chelsea
and the College in Virginia: the College is, in
fact, the link between the two. Wren must cer-
tainly have known of the Codrington project and
must have been aware of the similarity of its
design to the Hospital and College. One is almost




led to hypostatize that a copy of the William and
Mary design might have been made available to
Lilly.

There are a number of portraits and prints
of Christopher Wren where he is shown with
symbols of his art and with his magnum opus, St.
Paul’s Cathedral, in the background. When
Charles Bridges was commissioned to paint a
portrait of James Blair, he used this same format
(figures 91 and 22). Blair probably intended to
have himself portrayed as the College’s “archi-
tect” as well as its founder and president. The
epitaph on Blair’s tomb at Jamestown praises
[O]JPERA MARMORE PERENNIORA (work more
enduring than marble); that on Wren’s tomb in
St. Paul’s also alludes to marble—SI MONUMEN-
TUM REQUIRIS CIRCUMSPICE (If you seek his
monument, look about you). Blair, with Nichol-
son, made the College a major focal point when
they created a new capital and Capitol for Eng-
land’s largest colony, and these buildings are
surely their monuments. Of course there is also
the strong likelihood that Williamsburg’s first
“monument” was a design of Wren.

e

It is preposterous to believe that a donor who
made possible the founding of an institution,
who provided sufficient funds and lands to
enable its creation, who then authorized and
endorsed efforts to increase its endowment, and
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who finally provided this institution with both a
landscape design and a gardener to implement it
would not also be greatly interested in the design
of the first building itself and have made sure
that this design was included in the gift. This is
especially true in the case of the College’s donors
who not only had a demonstrably great interest
in and involvement with architectural and land-
scape design, but actually had at their immediate
disposal, unlike most donors, an architect unri-
valed in the design of the very kind of institution
they had just founded. Little survives to show
that Blair was interested in architecture, but if he
was not, he certainly would not have risked
offending his cultivated donors. Clearly, then,
the first design for the College originated in
England, in the Office of Works, and with some
kind of assistance from Wren, to the point of
establishing its essential character,

It is probable that this design, whether draw-
ings or a model, was prepared in late 1692 or
early 1693, that it was planned for a level site,
and that Blair returned with it in April 1693.
The English origin of the classical design of the
College is virtually assured by the fact that no
one in Virginia at the time could design it, su-
pervise its construction, or even build it. No
structure of its style and scale had yet been built
in any of the colonies and there is no evidence,
except for Penn and his English architect, Por-
teus, in Philadelphia, that any American archi-
tect was then living who was capable of creating

Fig. 91. ]. B. Closterman,
Portrait of Str Christopher
Wren, painting, Council of

the Royal Society, London.
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“so good a design.” Nor had the art of landscape
design yet reached the colonies, for why else
supply the College with a landscape plan, as well
as with a Hampton Court gardener, to lay it out?
Furthermore, that there was no one in Virginia
capable of overseeing its construction is exactly
why Thomas Hadley was sent as undertaker and
why at least three English masons, Baker, Cryer,
and Pocock, were brought over to build it. An
English contractor and English craftsmen surely
imply that its designer was also English.

Unlike Harvard College, which was an Amer-
ican, Congregationalist, and nonconformist
institution, the College of William and Mary was
an English, Anglican, and royal foundation.
Therefore, it would have been natural for its
design to have also been English, Anglican, and
royal. The combination points directly to the
Office of Works, the only administrative and
functional structure existing that designed build-
ings authorized by the sovereigns and, at times,
the Church. If William and Mary had granted a
royal charter to a new college at Oxford or
Cambridge in the same period rather than to
one in Virginia it could be expected that Wren
and his office would have been asked to design it.
Why then should it have been any different for
a royal college in Virginia? Because the design
for its gardens originated in the Office of Works,
it follows, therefore, that the design for its build-
ing also originated there. It is also usual for an
architect to begin a building’s design by first
studying its site, fix on a scheme for the build-
ing, and then finish with a plan for its grounds.
In the case of the College, no site had yet been
acquired; thus, its designer had a free hand.
Given the sovereigns’ love of gardens, it now
becomes clearer why an English garden design
and an English court gardener were sent to
Virginia from Hampton Court immediately after
the College site had been acquired.

As a new royal foundation, the College

needed an entirely new building, and since its
site had not yet been purchased, even less con-
straint was posed for its design. If Wren con-
ceived the design and had done so without any
constraints, it might be admitted that its form
would not have been quadrangular. That it was
quadrangular suggests not that he would not
design such a building under any condition, but
that he had been pressed to do so by the strong
hand of the client as well as, possibly, various
clergymen. Despite Wren, English colleges con-
tinued to build quadrangles. If Wren had been
asked by Blair, by Nicholson, by the sovereigns,
by Tillotson, or by the College’s chancellor,
Henry Compton, to prepare a “Modell,” how
could he have turned down what William had
called “so good a design,” what Mary had de-
fended against its detractors with such zeal that
“no objection against it could move her,” and
what the archbishop of Canterbury called “our”
College? To whom else would king, queen, and
clergy have advised Blair and Nicholson to turn
but to the country’s greatest and most renowned
designer of churches and colleges? If Wren was
not given the opportunity to design the College,
then he missed the only chance of his career to
design an entirely new college unencumbered by
existing buildings.

Despite Wren’s remark against a quadrangle
at Trinity, he created quadrangles where none
existed (Emmanuel), and he created them afresh
(Norfolk estate). Furthermore, he first brought
a fully classical vocabulary to English colleges
with Emmanuel and Trinity, and he remained
preeminent as a designer of colleges into the
1690s with at least eight accepted as his work. He
was soon rivaled by his protégé, Hawksmoor,
and by Aldrich and Clarke at Oxford, but their
work is later than Wren’s and the design of the
first College building. The elements of Wren’s
collegiate style soon became basic both to British
and to American college design. Hawksmoor,




Aldrich, and Clarke followed in his footsteps,
Jjust as all other colonial American colleges fol-
lowed the classical precedent established by the
College of William and Mary. Finally, it has been
shown that the ratios, proportions, dimensions,
and details that Wren used in at least ten build-
ings were also used in the design for the College.
Red brick, quoining or rustication, sash windows,
hipped roofs, semicircular arcades, cupolas with
two or more stories balancing Oxonian halls

and chapels, and astylar ranges conjured the
image of a Wren building. So do forty-six foot
widths and heights, facades of thirteen bays, and
rectangular blocks with ratios of 7:8. Can it be
coincidence, for example, that the ranges of the
College and Wren’s plan for the Senate House at
Cambridge both adhere to a 1:3 proportion and
also measure 46 by 138 feet? All of these fea-
tures show the hand of Wren and were recurrent
in his oeuvre as with no other contemporary
English architect. They virtually exhaust the
stylistic characteristics of the first design for the
College.

Wren’s architecture reveals a dexterous hand
capable of creating complex as well as simple
compositions. It should be apparent, even on the
basis of the examples of his work included in this
study, that his work shows considerable variety,
that he was quite capable of surprises, and that
he undertook work much less challenging than
the commission for the College design. Buildings
such as the Privy Gallery at Whitehall, the fore-
court buildings of the palace at Winchester, and
even Kensington Palace itself affirm Wren’s
willingness to work in the almost vernacular
Dutch Flat Style so associated with William and
Mary. The commonplace was fashionable, even
for Wren and his patrons. Circumstances, mat-
ters of style, and even documents, however frag-
mentary, combine to suggest that Hugh Jones’s
attribution to Wren of the first College design
should be accepted. There is no reason to think

that Jones, an Oxford scholar and scientist, was
not telling the truth. Nor is there reason to think
that he was inaccurate, that he meant to say that
the College had been first modeled by Wren’s
office or, worse still, that it was first modeled by
someone copying Wren. If Jones had never
mentioned Wren in his description of the Col-
lege, one would still be led back to him and to
the Office of Works because of crucial issues
facing William and Mary and the Anglican
clergy, issues that caused the Glorious Revolution
and that ultimately brought about the creation
of the College.

o

By 1715 when Kip’s Britannia illustrata and
Campbell’s Vitruvius Britannicus first appeared,
the era of Wren had passed. Palladianism and
the Picturesque—for they were intertwined—
would, within the decade, supplant the architec-
ture and formal gardens of Wren’s Baroque.
Williamsburg had by then taken definitive form;
the College’s reconstruction was complete. Capi-
tol, Gaol, Palace, Church, Magazine, and Play-
house were either firmly in place or under con-
struction, and nearly all had been built without
ready access to the ideas extolled in the some
200 British buildings those books illustrated.
Most of those shown by Kip and Campbell had
been built in the preceding half century and in
the Anglo-Dutch style just considered. It is clear
that the ideas at work in this style came to Vir-
ginia; precisely how, no one has yet been able to
show. But the ideas came nonetheless, for Wil-
liamsburg’s buildings were not conceived in a
vacuum. Kip and Campbell were far more of a
record of what had been achieved in a half
century in Britain than they were a portent of
impending developments in later British and
American architecture and landscape.®* The
kind of designs shown in these books, both with
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regard to the style of architecture and landscape
design, could nowhere be better seen in the
English colonies by 1715 (Philadelphia and
Charleston notwithstanding) than in
Williamsburg.

Williamsburg made a political and artistic
statement in the eighteenth century as profound
as any in contemporary Europe. It was without
parallel in the colonies. The town and its public
buildings were no watered-down expressions
or belated, provincial, and vernacular manifesta-
tions of well-tried and common European
ideas.s? They were, on the contrary, and from a
strictly European point of view, the actual culmi-
nation, in a virgin land, of ideas that came to
the fore as a result of the problems the Glorious
Revolution resolved and of the wheels it set in

motion. From a strictly American point of view,
however, Middle Plantation and Williamsburg
(1693—1715) mark the beginning in the United
States of the disciplines of architectural, land-
scape, and urban design. Williamsburg was
meant to be a work of art where the disciplines
of architectural, landscape, and urban design
were first inextricably linked in the colonies.
This is especially true in the very strict classical
sense of those disciplines.®® Williamsburg made a
strong political, social, and artistic statement,
equally integral, which would culminate in the
American Revolution. Its buildings, though
owing much to the Dutch and English, are
unique. “Adapted to the Nature of the Country
by the Gentlemen there,” they were aiready
American and distinctly so.5
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